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5. Financial Information 

 

1. Basis for Preparation of Consolidated and Non-consolidated Financial Statements 

(1) The consolidated financial statements of AICHI CORPORATION (the “Company”) are prepared in accordance 

with the “Regulation on Terminology, Forms, and Preparation Methods of Consolidated Financial Statements” 

(Ministry of Finance Order No. 28 of 1976). 

 

(2) The non-consolidated financial statements of the Company are prepared in accordance with the “Regulation on 

Terminology, Forms, and Preparation Methods of Financial Statements” (Ministry of Finance Order No. 59 of 

1963; hereinafter the “Regulation on Financial Statements”). 

The Company falls under the company allowed to file specified financial statements and prepares its non- 

consolidated financial statements pursuant to the provision of Article 127 of the Regulation on Financial Statements. 

 

2. Audit Certificate 

The Company’s consolidated and non-consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025 were 

audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers Japan LLC, in accordance with the provisions of Article 193-2, Paragraph 1 of the 

Financial Instruments and Exchange Act. 

 

3. Special Measures to Ensure the Appropriateness of Consolidated Financial Statements, etc. 

The Company has taken special measures to ensure the appropriateness of consolidated financial statements, etc. 

Specifically, the Company endeavors to establish a framework that allows the Company to appropriately understand 

the details of accounting standards and other relevant information and accurately respond to changes in the standards 

by joining the Financial Accounting Standards Foundation and participating in seminars organized by the Foundation. 

The Company has explored the possibility of adopting the designated International Financial Reporting Standards in 

the future. 
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1. Consolidated Financial Statements, etc. 

(1) Consolidated Financial Statements 

(i) Consolidated Balance Sheets 
           (Thousands of yen) 
          

As of March 31, 2024 As of March 31, 2025 

Assets   

 Current assets   

  Cash and deposits 42,131,006 46,871,546 

  Notes receivable - trade *4 5,388,054 2,282,192 

  Accounts receivable - trade 11,690,930 13,932,423 

  Merchandise and finished goods 2,819,650 1,904,576 

  Work in process 1,643,386 1,172,573 

  Raw materials and supplies 1,562,785 4,011,703 

  Other 592,449 873,430 

  Total current assets 65,828,262 71,048,447 

 Non-current assets   

  Property, plant and equipment   

   Buildings and structures 20,094,861 20,160,813 

    Accumulated depreciation (13,439,088) (13,936,251) 

    Buildings and structures, net 6,655,773 6,224,561 

   Machinery, equipment and vehicles 10,243,708 10,782,454 

    Accumulated depreciation (8,831,923) (9,335,962) 

    Machinery, equipment and vehicles, net 1,411,784 1,446,491 

   Tools, furniture and fixtures 3,057,019 3,064,141 

    Accumulated depreciation (2,857,974) (2,895,682) 

    Tools, furniture and fixtures, net 199,044 168,458 

   Land *1 8,522,521 *1 9,648,734 

   Leased assets 732,253 618,109 

    Accumulated depreciation (505,936) (421,673) 

    Leased assets, net 226,317 196,435 

   Construction in progress 134,614 1,519,142 

   Total property, plant and equipment 17,150,055 19,203,823 

  Intangible assets 651,201 599,350 

  Investments and other assets   

   Investment securities 7,066,511 5,395,663 

   Retirement benefit asset 600,466 940,995 

   Other *2 3,630,421 *2 3,175,773 

   Allowance for doubtful accounts (5,301) (5,107) 

   Total investments and other assets 11,292,097 9,507,325 

  Total non-current assets 29,093,354 29,310,499 

 Total assets 94,921,617 100,358,946 
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           (Thousands of yen) 
          

As of March 31, 2024 As of March 31, 2025 

Liabilities   

 Current liabilities   

  Notes and accounts payable - trade 7,372,886 9,617,405 

  Lease liabilities 72,642 59,582 

  Income taxes payable 862,617 1,790,996 

  
Provision for bonuses for directors (and other 
officers) 

38,000 26,000 

  Provision for product warranties 133,476 125,071 

  Other *3 2,430,428 *3 2,993,834 

  Total current liabilities 10,910,051 14,612,890 

 Non-current liabilities   

  Lease liabilities 183,348 154,999 

  Deferred tax liabilities 1,383,340 913,396 

  Deferred tax liabilities for land revaluation *1 616,302 *1 616,302 

  Other 39,511 37,787 

  Total non-current liabilities 2,222,503 1,722,485 

 Total liabilities 13,132,554 16,335,376 

Net assets   

 Shareholders’ equity   

  Share capital 10,425,325 10,425,325 

  Capital surplus 9,923,342 9,923,342 

  Retained earnings 56,428,242 59,705,918 

  Treasury shares (8,939) (9,231) 

  Total shareholders’ equity 76,767,970 80,045,354 

 Accumulated other comprehensive income   

  Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities 4,025,637 3,002,523 

  Revaluation reserve for land *1 (1,624,044) *1 (1,624,044) 

  Foreign currency translation adjustment 1,218,929 1,126,307 

  
Accumulated remeasurements of defined benefit 
plans 

1,400,570 1,473,428 

  Total accumulated other comprehensive income 5,021,092 3,978,215 

 Total net assets 81,789,062 84,023,570 

Total liabilities and net assets 94,921,617 100,358,946 
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(ii) Consolidated Statements of Income and Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Statements of Income 

(Thousands of yen) 

For the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2024 

For the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2025 

Net sales *1 53,129,278 *1 59,306,955

Cost of sales *2 41,350,074 *2 46,253,116

Gross profit 11,779,203 13,053,839 

Selling, general and administrative expenses 

Packing and delivery expenses 519,553 673,292 

Advertising expenses 79,936 68,069 

Sales commission 18,000 17,514 

Remuneration for directors (and other officers) 77,178 65,826 

Salaries, allowances and bonuses 2,123,220 2,172,814 

Provision for bonuses for directors (and other officers) 34,591 22,216 

Retirement benefit expenses 100,998 60,963 

Welfare expenses 457,976 469,569 

Communication and transportation expenses 272,583 249,426 

Depreciation 298,976 299,153 

Repair expenses 71,925 72,510 

Rent expenses 143,307 147,793 

Research and development expenses *6 424,499 *6 345,930

Other 814,839 948,546

Total selling, general and administrative expenses 5,437,588 5,613,628 

Operating profit 6,341,615 7,440,210 

Non-operating income 

Interest income 19,402 61,429 

Dividend income 174,111 183,896 

Foreign exchange gains 7,492 34,259 

Share of profit of entities accounted for using equity 
method 

443,652 469,497 

Miscellaneous income 34,566 37,136 

Total non-operating income 679,226 786,219 

Non-operating expenses 

Miscellaneous losses 1,992 769 

Total non-operating expenses 1,992 769 

Ordinary profit 7,018,849 8,225,659 
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(Thousands of yen) 

For the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2024 

For the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2025 

Extraordinary income 

Gain on sale of non-current assets *3 763 – 

Gain on sale of investment securities 469,008 871,100 

Total extraordinary income 469,771 871,100 

Extraordinary losses 

Loss on retirement of non-current assets *5 998 *5 13,296

Loss on sale of investment securities – 765 

Impairment losses *4 415 *4 306

TOB related expenses – *7 101,570 

Total extraordinary losses 1,414 115,939 

Profit before income taxes 7,487,206 8,980,820 

Income taxes - current 1,987,427 2,698,799 

Income taxes - deferred 229,699 (52,624) 

Total income taxes 2,217,127 2,646,174 

Profit 5,270,078 6,334,645 

Profit attributable to owners of parent 5,270,078 6,334,645 
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 
           (Thousands of yen) 
          

For the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2024 

For the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2025 

Profit 5,270,078 6,334,645 

Other comprehensive income:   

 Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities 142,698 (1,023,113) 

 Foreign currency translation adjustment 182,567 (52,603) 

 Remeasurements of defined benefit plans, net of tax 848,531 72,858 

 
Share of other comprehensive income of entities 
accounted for using equity method 

228,179 (40,018) 

 Total other comprehensive income *1 1,401,977 *1 (1,042,876) 

Comprehensive income 6,672,056 5,291,768 

Comprehensive income attributable to   

 Comprehensive income attributable to owners of parent 6,672,056 5,291,768 

 
Comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling 
interests 

– – 
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(iii) Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024 

 (Thousands of yen) 

 

Shareholders’ equity 

Share capital Capital surplus Retained earnings Treasury shares 
Total shareholders’ 

equity 

Balance at beginning of 

period 
10,425,325 9,923,342 54,606,278 (313) 74,954,632 

Changes during period      

Dividends of surplus   (2,858,014)  (2,858,014) 

Profit attributable to 

owners of parent 
  5,270,078  5,270,078 

Purchase of treasury 

shares 
   (598,726) (598,726) 

Cancellation of treasury 

shares 
 (590,100)  590,100 – 

Transfer from retained 

earnings to capital 

surplus 

 590,100 (590,100)  – 

Net changes in items 

other than shareholders’ 

equity 

    – 

Total changes during 

period 
– – 1,821,963 (8,625) 1,813,337 

Balance at end of period 10,425,325 9,923,342 56,428,242 (8,939) 76,767,970 

 

 

Accumulated other comprehensive income 

Total net assets Valuation difference 

on available-for-sale 

securities 

Revaluation reserve 

for land 

Foreign currency 

translation 

adjustment 

Accumulated 

remeasurements of 

defined benefit 

plans 

Total accumulated 

other 

comprehensive 

income 

Balance at beginning of 

period 
3,882,938 (1,624,044) 808,182 552,038 3,619,115 78,573,747 

Changes during period       

Dividends of surplus      (2,858,014) 

Profit attributable to 

owners of parent 
     5,270,078 

Purchase of treasury 

shares 
     (598,726) 

Cancellation of treasury 

shares 
     – 

Transfer from retained 

earnings to capital 

surplus 

     – 

Net changes in items 

other than shareholders’ 

equity 

142,698 – 410,747 848,531 1,401,977 1,401,977 

Total changes during 

period 
142,698 – 410,747 848,531 1,401,977 3,215,315 

Balance at end of period 4,025,637 (1,624,044) 1,218,929 1,400,570 5,021,092 81,789,062 
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For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025 

 (Thousands of yen) 

 

Shareholders’ equity 

Share capital Capital surplus Retained earnings Treasury shares 
Total shareholders’ 

equity 

Balance at beginning of 

period 
10,425,325 9,923,342 56,428,242 (8,939) 76,767,970 

Changes during period      

Dividends of surplus   (3,056,969)  (3,056,969) 

Profit attributable to 

owners of parent 
  6,334,645  6,334,645 

Purchase of treasury 

shares 
   (291) (291) 

Net changes in items 

other than shareholders’ 

equity 

    – 

Total changes during 

period 
– – 3,277,676 (291) 3,277,384 

Balance at end of period 10,425,325 9,923,342 59,705,918 (9,231) 80,045,354 

 

 

Accumulated other comprehensive income 

Total net assets Valuation difference 

on available-for-sale 

securities 

Revaluation reserve 

for land 

Foreign currency 

translation 

adjustment 

Accumulated 

remeasurements of 

defined benefit 

plans 

Total accumulated 

other 

comprehensive 

income 

Balance at beginning of 

period 
4,025,637 (1,624,044) 1,218,929 1,400,570 5,021,092 81,789,062 

Changes during period       

Dividends of surplus      (3,056,969) 

Profit attributable to 

owners of parent 
     6,334,645 

Purchase of treasury 

shares 
     (291) 

Net changes in items 

other than shareholders’ 

equity 

(1,023,113) – (92,621) 72,858 (1,042,876) (1,042,876) 

Total changes during 

period 
(1,023,113) – (92,621) 72,858 (1,042,876) 2,234,507 

Balance at end of period 3,002,523 (1,624,044) 1,126,307 1,473,428 3,978,215 84,023,570 
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(iv) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
           (Thousands of yen) 
          

For the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2024 

For the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2025 

Cash flows from operating activities   

 Profit before income taxes 7,487,206 8,980,820 

 Depreciation 1,440,853 1,441,055 

 Impairment losses 415 306 

 Increase (decrease) in allowance for doubtful accounts (1,352) (193) 

 Increase (decrease) in provision for product warranties (19,588) (8,405) 

 Decrease (increase) in retirement benefit asset (600,466) (340,529) 

 Increase (decrease) in retirement benefit liability (660,461) – 

 Interest and dividend income (193,514) (245,325) 

 
Share of loss (profit) of entities accounted for using 
equity method 

(443,652) (469,497) 

 Loss (gain) on sale of investment securities (469,008) (870,334) 

 Foreign exchange losses (gains) (1,187) 1,070 

 Loss (gain) on sale and retirement of non-current assets 234 13,296 

 Decrease (increase) in trade receivables 6,414,625 860,641 

 Decrease (increase) in inventories (2,186,934) (1,340,159) 

 Increase (decrease) in trade payables (2,894,893) 2,248,116 

 TOB related expenses – 101,570 

 Other, net 776,418 780,998 

 Subtotal 8,648,697 11,153,430 

 Interest and dividends received 952,113 613,488 

 TOB related paid – (88,760) 

 Income taxes paid (2,489,172) (1,806,503) 

 Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 7,111,638 9,871,654 

Cash flows from investing activities   

 Decrease (increase) in deposits 33,300,000 – 

 Proceeds from sale of investment securities 565,984 1,071,562 

 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets 

(1,072,594) (3,000,258) 

 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets 

9,085 – 

 Other, net (39,166) (26,507) 

 Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 32,763,309 (1,955,203) 

Cash flows from financing activities   

 Purchase of treasury shares (598,726) (291) 

 Dividends paid (2,858,014) (3,056,969) 

 Other, net (95,009) (76,059) 

 Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (3,551,750) (3,133,321) 

Effect of exchange rate change on cash and cash 
equivalents 

80,160 (42,589) 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 36,403,357 4,740,540 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 5,727,648 42,131,006 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period *1 42,131,006 *1 46,871,546 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

1. Basis of consolidation 

The accounts of the Company and all of its 2 subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements. 

Name of the consolidated subsidiaries 

Zhejiang Aichi Industrial Machinery Co., Ltd. 

AICHI NZ LIMITED 

 

2. Application of equity method 

One affiliate is accounted for by the equity method. 

Name of the affiliate 

Hangzhou Aichi Engineering Vehicles Co., Ltd. 

Although the fiscal year end date of Hangzhou Aichi Engineering Vehicles Co., Ltd. is December 31, when 

preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Company uses the affiliate’s provisional financial statements, 

which are calculated assuming the fiscal year end date is March 31. 

 

3. Fiscal year of consolidated subsidiaries 

Although the fiscal year end date of Zhejiang Aichi Industrial Machinery Co., Ltd. is December 31, when preparing 

the consolidated financial statements, the Company uses the subsidiary’s provisional financial statements, which are 

calculated assuming the fiscal year end date is March 31. 

 

4. Accounting policies 

(1) Valuation method of significant assets 

(i) Securities 

Available-for-sale securities 

Securities other than shares, etc., that do not have a market price: 

Stated at fair value 

(Net unrealized gains or losses are reported as a separate component in net assets, net of applicable 

income taxes. Gains and losses on disposition are computed mainly based on the moving average 

method.) 

Shares, etc., that do not have a market price: 

Stated at cost, cost mainly being determined by the moving average method. 

(ii) Inventories 

Inventories are stated at cost (write-down due to decreased profitability). 

A.  Finished goods and work in process are evaluated using the specific identification method. 

B.  Raw materials are mainly stated at cost, cost being determined by the moving average method. 

C.  Supplies are stated at cost, cost being determined by the last purchase price method. 

(iii) Derivatives 

Derivatives are stated at fair value. 

(2) Method of depreciation or amortization 

(i) Property, plant and equipment (except for leased assets) are depreciated by the declining-balance method. 

However, buildings (except for facilities attached to buildings) acquired on and after April 1, 1998 and 

facilities attached to buildings and structures acquired on and after April 1, 2016 are depreciated by the 

straight-line method. 

(ii) Intangible assets (except for leased assets) are amortized based on the straight-line method. 

In addition, software for internal use is amortized by the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives 

(five years). 
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(iii) Depreciation of leased assets regarding finance lease transactions that do not transfer ownership is computed 

by the straight-line method over the lease period with no residual value. 

(3) Significant allowances and provisions 

(i) Allowance for doubtful accounts 

The Company provides for estimated losses on accounts receivable based on prior bad debt experience and a 

review of existing receivable balances. The Company reviews individual financial conditions for doubtful or 

troubled receivables and provides for losses on uncollectible amounts. In addition, a general reserve for other 

accounts receivable is provided based on historical loss experience for certain past periods. 

(ii) Provision for bonuses for directors (and other officers) 

The Company provides for estimated payment of bonuses to directors. 

(iii) Provision for product warranties 

The Company provides for estimated warranty costs based on the Company’s prior experience and estimated 

costs to be incurred individually calculated for certain products. 

(4) Retirement benefits 

(i) Method of attributing projected benefit obligation to periods 

In calculating retirement benefit obligations, the projected benefit obligation attributed to the current fiscal 

year is determined using the benefit formula basis. 

(ii) Calculation treatment for actuarial gains or losses and prior service costs 

Actuarial gains or losses are amortized in the fiscal year following the fiscal year in which the gain or loss is 

recognized by the straight-line method over a fixed period (10 years), which is shorter than the average 

remaining years of service of the employees. 

Prior service costs are amortized when the prior service costs are recognized by the straight-line method over 

a fixed period (10 years), which is shorter than the average remaining years of service of the employee. 

(5) Accounting standards for significant revenue and expense recognition 

Followings are the main content of major performance obligations in the Company and its consolidated 

subsidiaries’ mainstay businesses relating to revenue from contracts with customers and the timing when such 

performance obligations are typically satisfied (when revenue is typically recognized). 

The Group manufactures and sells specially equipped vehicles such as digger derricks, aerial work platforms and 

skid-steer loaders, sells their parts, and provides after-sales services such as repairs. The Company also provides 

training in the operation of aerial work platforms, etc. The Company usually recognizes revenue from the sales of 

these products and the provision of these services when they are accepted by customers because customers obtain 

control of these products and services, and the performance obligations are satisfied when the products and 

services are accepted by customers. However, the Group recognizes revenue from the sole domestic sales of parts 

at their shipment by applying the alternative treatment as stipulated in Paragraph 98 of the “Implementation 

Guidance on Accounting Standard for Revenue Recognition” (ASBJ Guidance No. 30) when the period between 

the shipment and the transfer of control of these parts to customers falls under the usual period. 

There are cases where long-term maintenance contracts are concluded with customers as an after-sales service 

business and customers receive benefits from the provision of these services as the performance obligations are 

satisfied. The Company recognizes revenue from these services over the contract periods because the performance 

obligations of these services are satisfied over time. 

For parts supply transactions for fees relating to specially equipped vehicles for which manufacturing consignment 

agreements are received from customers, the Company recognizes revenue from the sales of these specially 

equipped vehicles at the amounts excluding the amounts of parts supplied for fees. 

(6) Hedge accounting 

(i) Hedge accounting 

Deferred hedge accounting is applied. 

Designated hedge accounting (“Furiate-shori”) is applied for foreign currency forward contracts that meet 

qualifications for designated hedge accounting. 
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(ii) Hedging instruments and hedged items 

Hedging instruments 

Foreign currency forward contracts 

Hedged items 

Foreign-currency-denominated monetary receivables, etc. 

(iii) Hedging policy 

The Group has decided to limit forward exchange contracts up to the amount of the actual volume of exports. 

(iv) Method of assessing hedge effectiveness 

As designated hedge accounting (“Furiate-shori”) is applied to forward exchange contracts, the assessment 

of hedge effectiveness is omitted. 

(v) Other risk management methods 

The Group concludes forward exchange contracts only with highly rated financial institutions and fulfills, 

manages, and reports such transactions following relevant rules and regulations. 

(7) Scope of cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statements of cash flows 

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of cash flows consist of cash on hand, demand deposits 

that can be withdrawn on demand, and highly liquid short-term investments with maturities of three months or 

less at the time of acquisition that are readily convertible into cash and are exposed to only an insignificant risk 

of fluctuation in value. 
 

Significant Accounting Estimates 

Provision for product warranties 

(1) Amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements as of March 31, 2025 

 (Thousands of yen) 

As of March 31, 2024 As of March 31, 2025 

133,476 125,071 

 

(2) Information on the significant accounting estimates of the identified items 

The provision for product warranties is categorized into a provision for free repairs carried out within the warranty 

period and a provision for free repairs to rectify defects in specific products. 

For the provision for free repairs carried out within the warranty period, future product warranty expenses are 

estimated and recognized in a lump sum based on the actual ratio of warranty expenses incurred to sales. 

For specific products subject to measures for rectifying defects, expected product warranty expenses are estimated 

and recognized individually based on the number of units to be rectified, the estimated cost of repair per unit, the 

percentage of the units that have actually been repaired, and the percentage of the liability shared with suppliers. 

If liabilities arise due to product defects that were not expected when the estimates were made for the provision, 

or if warranty expenses exceed the provision, it may become necessary to recognize additional provision for 

product warranties. Meanwhile, if the actual warranty expenses turn out to be smaller than the provision, a reversal 

of the provision will be recognized. 
 

Accounting Standards Issued but Not Yet Applied 

• “Accounting Standard for Leases” (ASBJ Statement No. 34, September 13, 2024) 
• “Implementation Guidance on Accounting Standard for Leases” (ASBJ Guidance No. 33, September 13, 2024) 

Other revisions of related accounting standards, implementation guidance, practical solutions, and transferred guidance 

(1) Outline 

The standards and guidance prescribe the treatment of recording assets and liabilities for all leases of lessees, etc., 

as in international accounting standards. 

(2) Scheduled application date 

They are scheduled to be applied in the beginning of the fiscal year ending March 31, 2028. 

(3) Effect of application of the accounting standards, etc. 

The amount of impact on consolidated financial statements from the application of “Accounting Standard for 

Leases,” etc. is currently being evaluated. 
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Consolidated Balance Sheets 

*1 Land revaluation 

Pursuant to the “Act on Revaluation of Land” (Act No. 34, promulgated on March 31, 1998), the Company revalued 

land used for business activities and recorded deferred tax liabilities for land revaluation in liabilities and revaluation 

reserve for land in net assets. 

• Revaluation method 

Revaluation was carried out based on an amount rationally calculated using the land value for local government 

tax and roadside land assessment as prescribed in Article 2, Item 3 and Article 2, Item 4 of the “Order for 

Enforcement of the Act on Revaluation of Land” (No. 119 of the 1998 Cabinet Order, promulgated on March 31, 

1998), respectively. 

• Revaluation date 

March 31, 2002 
(Thousands of yen) 

 As of March 31, 2024 As of March 31, 2025 

Difference between the fair value at 
the end of the fiscal year ended March 
31, 2025 and the book value of the 
land after the revaluation 

(2,138,913) (1,835,988) 

 

*2 Investments in capital of affiliates included in “Other” were as follows: 
(Thousands of yen) 

 As of March 31, 2024 As of March 31, 2025 

Other (Investments in capital) 3,465,493 2,996,470 

 

*3 Contract liabilities under “Other” were as follows: 

(Thousands of yen) 

 As of March 31, 2024 As of March 31, 2025 

Contract liabilities 226,462 158,558 

 

*4 Notes maturing at the end of the fiscal year are settled on the clearance date of the notes. Because the last day of the 

previous fiscal year fell on a holiday for financial institutions, the following notes maturing on the last day of the 

fiscal year were included in the balance at the end of the fiscal year. 
(Thousands of yen) 

 As of March 31, 2024 As of March 31, 2025 

Notes receivable - trade 814,019 – 

 

Consolidated Statements of Income 

*1 Revenue from contracts with customers 

With respect to net sales, the Group does not disaggregate revenue from contracts with customers and other sources 

of revenue. The amount of revenue from contracts with customers is presented in “Notes to the Consolidated 

Financial Statements, Revenue Recognition, 1. Information about breakdown of revenue from contracts with 

customers.” 
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*2 Write-down due to decreased profitability of inventories held for sale in the ordinary course of business was as 

follows: 

(Thousands of yen) 

 
For the fiscal year ended March 31, 

2024 
For the fiscal year ended March 31, 

2025 

Cost of sales 11,872 94,914 

 

*3 Gain on sale of non-current assets was mainly attributable to: 

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024 

The sale of buildings, structures, and other items 

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025 

There are no applicable items. 

 
 

*4 For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024 

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024, impairment loss was incurred on the following asset group. 

Location Use Type Amount 

Konan-cho, Takamatsu-shi, Kagawa Idle land Land ¥415 thousand 

The Group has categorized its assets by business into assets associated with specially equipped vehicles and rental 

property businesses, and idle assets. 

As the land price of idle assets in Takamatsu-shi dropped compared to the book value, the Group reduced the book 

value to the recoverable amount and posted the reduction of ¥415 thousand as impairment loss in extraordinary 

losses for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024. 

The recoverable amount of such assets was measured at net sales value and determined after making reasonable 

adjustments to the valuation of non-current assets. 

 

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025 

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025, impairment loss was incurred on the following asset group. 

Location Use Type Amount 

Konan-cho, Takamatsu-shi, Kagawa Idle land Land ¥306 thousand 

The Group has categorized its assets by business into assets associated with specially equipped vehicles and rental 

property businesses, and idle assets. 

As the land price of idle assets in Takamatsu-shi dropped compared to the book value, the Group reduced the book 

value to the recoverable amount and posted the reduction of ¥306 thousand as impairment loss in extraordinary 

losses for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025. 

The recoverable amount of such assets was measured at net sales value and determined after making reasonable 

adjustments to the valuation of non-current assets. 

 

*5 Loss on retirement of non-current assets was mainly attributable to: 

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024 

The retirement of buildings, structures, and other items 

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025 

The retirement of buildings, structures, and other items 
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*6 Research and development expenses included in selling, general and administrative expenses are presented below 

and there were no such expenses to be included in manufacturing cost. 

 
For the fiscal year ended March 31, 

2024 
For the fiscal year ended March 31, 

2025 

Selling, general and administrative 
expenses 

424,499 thousand yen 345,930 thousand yen 

 

*7 TOB related expenses 

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024 

There are no applicable items. 

 

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025 

The Company conducted a tender offer for treasury shares from March 21, 2025 to April 17, 2025 based on a 

resolution made at a board meeting held on March 19, 2025. TOB related expenses include advisory fees paid to 

securities companies and attorneys concerning the tender offer. 

 

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 

*1 Reclassification adjustments, income taxes, and tax effects relating to other comprehensive income 

(Thousands of yen) 

 
For the fiscal year 

ended March 31, 2024 
For the fiscal year 

ended March 31, 2025 

Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities   

Amount incurred during period 673,409 (598,519) 

Reclassification adjustments (469,008) (871,100) 

Before income taxes and tax effect adjustments 204,401 (1,469,620) 

Income taxes and tax effect (61,703) 446,506 

Valuation difference on available-for-sale 
securities 

142,698 (1,023,113) 

Foreign currency translation adjustment   

Amount incurred during period 182,567 (52,603) 

Foreign currency translation adjustment 182,567 (52,603) 

Remeasurements of defined benefit plans   

Amount incurred during period 1,327,823 319,010 

Reclassification adjustments (107,616) (214,238) 

Before income taxes and tax effect adjustments 1,220,206 104,772 

Income taxes and tax effect (371,675) (31,913) 

Remeasurements of defined benefit plans 848,531 72,858 

Share of other comprehensive income of entities 
accounted for using equity method 

  

Amount incurred during period 228,179 (40,018) 

Total other comprehensive income 1,401,977 (1,042,876) 
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024 

1. Class and number of issued shares 

Class of shares As of April 1, 2023 Increase Decrease As of March 31, 2024 

Common shares 
(shares) 

75,211,400 – 641,400 74,570,000 

 
(Major causes of changes) 

The decrease in the number was due to a cancellation of treasury shares based on a resolution made at a board meeting 

held on February 28, 2024. 

 

2. Class and number of treasury shares 

Class of shares As of April 1, 2023 Increase Decrease As of March 31, 2024 

Common shares 
(shares) 

375 650,722 641,400 9,697 

 
(Major causes of changes) 

The increase in the number was attributable to: 

Acquisition of treasury shares based on a resolution made at a board 

meeting held on November 29, 2023 650,000 shares 

Acquisition of shares less than one unit 722 shares 

The decrease in the number was attributable to: 

Cancellation of treasury shares based on a resolution made at a 

board meeting held on February 28, 2024 641,400 shares 

 

3. Share acquisition rights, etc. 

There are no applicable items. 

 

4. Cash dividends 

(1) Amount of cash dividends 

Resolution Class of shares 
Amount of cash 

dividends 
(Thousands of yen) 

Cash dividends per 
share (Yen) 

Record date 
Effective date of 

distribution 

Board meeting on 
April 25, 2023 

Common shares 1,429,009 19.00 March 31, 2023 June 1, 2023 

Board meeting on 
October 27, 2023 

Common shares 1,429,005 19.00 September 30, 2023 November 28, 2023 

 

(2) Dividends whose record date fell in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024, but the effective date of distribution 

falls in the fiscal year ending March 31, 2025 

Resolution 
Class of 
shares 

Source of 
dividends 

Amount of cash 
dividends 

(Thousands of 
yen) 

Cash dividends 
per share (Yen) 

Record date 
Effective date of 

distribution 

Board meeting on 
April 23, 2024 

Common 
shares 

Retained 
earnings 

1,565,766 21.00 March 31, 2024 May 30, 2024 
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For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025 

1. Class and number of issued shares 

Class of shares As of April 1, 2024 Increase Decrease As of March 31, 2025 

Common shares 
(shares) 

74,570,000 – – 74,570,000 

 

2. Class and number of treasury shares 

Class of shares As of April 1, 2024 Increase Decrease As of March 31, 2025 

Common shares 
(shares) 

9,697 225 – 9,922 

 
(Major causes of changes) 

The increase is the result of the acquisition of shares of less than one unit. 

 

3. Share acquisition rights, etc. 

There are no applicable items. 

 

4. Cash dividends 

(1) Amount of cash dividends 

Resolution Class of shares 
Amount of cash 

dividends 
(Thousands of yen) 

Cash dividends per 
share (Yen) 

Record date 
Effective date of 

distribution 

Board meeting on 
April 23, 2024 

Common shares 1,565,766 21.00 March 31, 2024 May 30, 2024 

Board meeting on 
October 25, 2024 

Common shares 1,491,203 20.00 September 30, 2024 November 28, 2024 

 

(2) Dividends whose record date fell in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025, but the effective date of distribution 

falls in the fiscal year ending March 31, 2026 

Resolution 
Class of 
shares 

Source of 
dividends 

Amount of cash 
dividends 

(Thousands of 
yen) 

Cash dividends 
per share (Yen) 

Record date 
Effective date of 

distribution 

Board meeting on 
April 23, 2025 

Common 
shares 

Retained 
earnings 

2,609,602 35.00 March 31, 2025 May 29, 2025 
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

*1 The reconciliation of the ending balance of cash and cash equivalents with the amounts of the line items presented 

on the consolidated balance sheets was as follows: 

(Thousands of yen) 

 
For the fiscal year 

ended March 31, 2024 
For the fiscal year 

ended March 31, 2025 

Cash and deposits 42,131,006 46,871,546 

Cash and cash equivalents 42,131,006 46,871,546 

 

Lease Transactions 

1. Finance lease transactions 

As a lessee 

Finance lease transactions that do not transfer ownership 

(i) Details of leased assets 

• Property, plant and equipment 

These assets comprise buildings, vehicles, tools, furniture and fixtures. 

• Intangible assets 

These assets represent software. 

(ii) Method of depreciation of leased assets 

Depreciation of leased assets is computed by the straight-line method over the lease period deemed as useful 

lives with no residual value. 

 

2. Operating lease transactions 

As a lessee 

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases 
  (Thousands of yen) 

 As of March 31, 2024 As of March 31, 2025 

Within one year 6,710 6,996 

Over one year 8,106 10,503 

Total 14,816 17,499 
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Financial Instruments 

1. Status of financial instruments held by the Group 

(1) Policy on financial instruments 

Working capital and capital investments are financed by the Group’s own funds. Temporary excess funds are 

mainly invested through highly secure short-term deposits, fixed-term deposits, etc. The Group uses derivatives 

to hedge against the risk of exchange rate fluctuations in trade receivables and has a policy of not engaging in 

speculative transactions. 

 

(2) Nature and risks of financial instruments 

Trade receivables such as notes receivable - trade and accounts receivable - trade are exposed to the credit risk of 

customers. Since trade receivables denominated in foreign currencies, which arise from the global business, are 

exposed to the risk of exchange rate fluctuations, the Group in principle hedges this risk by means of forward 

exchange contracts. 

Investment securities such as shares are exposed to the risk of market price fluctuations and are mainly shares in 

companies with which the Group has business relationships. The fair value of listed shares is verified on a 

quarterly basis. 

Trade payables such as notes and accounts payable - trade are due within one year. 

With respect to derivative transactions, the Group uses forward exchange contracts for the purpose of hedging 

against the risk of exchange rate fluctuations associated with trade receivables and forecast transactions 

denominated in foreign currencies. Hedging instruments, hedged items, hedging policy and methods for the 

assessment of the hedge effectiveness relating to the hedge accounting are described in “Summary of Significant 

Accounting Policies, 4. Accounting policies, (6) Hedge accounting.” 

 

(3) Risk management system for financial instruments 

(i) Credit risk management (risk of non-performance by counterparties, etc.) 

For trade receivables, the Sales Division and Administration Division regularly monitor the status of major 

customers and manage the due dates and outstanding balances by counterparty to detect at an early stage and 

mitigate concerns about the collection that would be caused by deteriorating financial conditions and other 

factors in accordance with the internal control measures for receivables management. 

The Group trades derivatives only with highly rated financial institutions. 

(ii) Market risk management (risk of exchange rate and interest rate fluctuations) 

In principle, the Group hedges trade receivables and forecast transactions denominated in foreign currencies 

using forward exchange contracts. 

For investment securities, the Group verifies the fair value of listed shares on a quarterly basis and the 

financial conditions of the issuers (business partners) of unlisted shares on an ongoing basis. 

The Accounting Division executes derivative transactions and reconciles their balances in accordance with 

internal policies. 

(iii) Management of liquidity risk in financing (risk of being unable to make payments on due dates) 

The Group is not exposed to liquidity risk in financing because working capital is financed by the Group’s 

own funds. 

 

(4) Supplementary explanation on fair values of financial instruments 

Variable factors are incorporated in the measurement of fair values of financial instruments, and therefore, 

measured values may vary depending on assumptions adopted. The contract amounts and other information of 

derivative transactions shown in “2 Fair value of financial instruments” do not directly represent the market risk 

associated with the derivative transactions. 
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2. Fair value of financial instruments 

Consolidated balance sheet amounts, fair values and their differences are as follows. 

 

As of March 31, 2024 
(Thousands of yen) 

 
Consolidated balance sheet 

amount 
Fair value Difference 

Investment securities    

Available-for-sale securities 6,710,851 6,710,851 – 

Total assets 6,710,851 6,710,851 – 

*1 Notes to deposits, notes receivable - trade, accounts receivable - trade, notes and accounts payable - trade, and income taxes 

payable are omitted, because they are settled on short-term basis and their book values approximate their fair values. 

*2 Shares, etc., that do not have a market price are not included in available-for-sale securities under investment securities. 

Consolidated balance sheet amounts of such financial instruments were as follows. 

Category 
As of March 31, 2024 

(Thousands of yen) 

Unlisted shares 355,660 

 

As of March 31, 2025 
(Thousands of yen) 

 
Consolidated balance sheet 

amount 
Fair value Difference 

Investment securities    

Available-for-sale securities 5,075,003 5,075,003 – 

Total assets 5,075,003 5,075,003 – 

*1 Notes to deposits, notes receivable - trade, accounts receivable - trade, notes and accounts payable - trade, and income taxes 

payable are omitted, because they are settled on short-term basis and their book values approximate their fair values. 

*2 Shares, etc., that do not have a market price are not included in available-for-sale securities under investment securities. 

Consolidated balance sheet amounts of such financial instruments were as follows. 

Category 
As of March 31, 2025 

(Thousands of yen) 

Unlisted shares 320,660 
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(Note) Redemption schedule for monetary receivables after the consolidated balance sheet date 

As of March 31, 2024 
(Thousands of yen) 

 Within one year 
Due after one 

year but within 
five years 

Due after five 
years but within 

ten years 

Due after ten 
years 

Cash and deposits 42,131,006 – – – 

Notes receivable - trade 5,388,054 – – – 

Accounts receivable - trade 11,690,930 – – – 

Total 59,209,991 – – – 

 

As of March 31, 2025 
(Thousands of yen) 

 Within one year 
Due after one 

year but within 
five years 

Due after five 
years but within 

ten years 

Due after ten 
years 

Cash and deposits 46,871,546 – – – 

Notes receivable - trade 2,282,192 – – – 

Accounts receivable - trade 13,932,423 – – – 

Total 63,086,162 – – – 

 

3. Breakdown of fair value by level within the fair value hierarchy 

The fair value of financial instruments is classified into the following three levels according to the observability and 

materiality of inputs used to measure fair value. 

Level 1 fair value: Fair value measured using observable inputs, i.e. quoted prices in active markets for assets 

or liabilities that are the subject of the measurement. 

Level 2 fair value: Fair value measured using observable inputs other than Level 1 inputs. 

Level 3 fair value: Fair value measured using unobservable inputs. 

If multiple inputs are used that are significant to the fair value measurement, the fair value measurement is categorized 

in its entirety in the level of the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement. 

 

(1) Financial instruments measured at fair value 

As of March 31, 2024 

Category 
Fair value (Thousands of yen) 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Investment securities     

Available-for-sale securities 6,710,851 – – 6,710,851 

 

As of March 31, 2025 

Category 
Fair value (Thousands of yen) 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Investment securities     

Available-for-sale securities 5,075,003 – – 5,075,003 

 

(2) Financial instruments other than those measured at fair value 

Notes are omitted due to their insignificance. 
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Securities 

1. Available-for-sale securities 

As of March 31, 2024 

(Thousands of yen) 

Category 
Consolidated balance sheet 

amount 
Acquisition cost Fair value 

Securities whose consolidated balance 
sheet amount exceeds the acquisition 
cost: 

   

Shares 6,710,851 1,091,310 5,619,540 

Subtotal 6,710,851 1,091,310 5,619,540 

Securities whose consolidated balance 
sheet amount does not exceed the 
acquisition cost: 

   

Shares – – – 

Subtotal – – – 

Total 6,710,851 1,091,310 5,619,540 

 

As of March 31, 2025 

(Thousands of yen) 

Category 
Consolidated balance sheet 

amount 
Acquisition cost Fair value 

Securities whose consolidated balance 
sheet amount exceeds the acquisition 
cost: 

   

Shares 5,075,003 925,083 4,149,920 

Subtotal 5,075,003 925,083 4,149,920 

Securities whose consolidated balance 
sheet amount does not exceed the 
acquisition cost: 

   

Shares – – – 

Subtotal – – – 

Total 5,075,003 925,083 4,149,920 

 

2. Available-for-sale securities sold during the fiscal year 

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024 

(Thousands of yen) 

Category Proceeds from sale Total gain on sale Total loss on sale 

Shares 565,984 469,008 – 

Total 565,984 469,008 – 

 

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025 

(Thousands of yen 

Category Proceeds from sale Total gain on sale Total loss on sale 

Shares 1,071,562 871,100 – 

Total 1,071,562 871,100 – 
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Derivative Transactions 

1. Derivative transactions to which hedge accounting is not applied 

As of March 31, 2024 and 2025 

There are no applicable items. 

 

2. Derivative transactions to which hedge accounting is applied 

Currency-related derivatives 

As of March 31, 2024 

(Thousands of yen) 

Hedge accounting 
Type of derivative 

transactions 
Main hedged items 

Contract amount, 
etc. 

Contract amount, 
etc., due after one 

year 
Fair value 

Designated hedge 
accounting 
(“Furiate-shori”) for 
foreign currency 
forward contracts, 
etc. 

Forward exchange 
contracts 

Accounts receivable 
- trade 

   

Selling    

US$ 13,519 – (Note) 

Total 13,519 – (Note) 

(Note) Since items subject to the designated hedge accounting (“Furiate-shori”) for foreign currency forward contracts, etc. are 

accounted for synthetically with accounts receivable - trade that are hedged items, their fair values are included in the fair 

values of the corresponding accounts receivable - trade. 

 

As of March 31, 2025 

(Thousands of yen) 

Hedge accounting 
Type of derivative 

transactions 
Main hedged items 

Contract amount, 
etc. 

Contract amount, 
etc., due after one 

year 
Fair value 

Designated hedge 
accounting 
(“Furiate-shori”) for 
foreign currency 
forward contracts, 
etc. 

Forward exchange 
contracts 

Accounts receivable 
- trade 

   

Selling    

US$ 107,885 – (Note) 

Total 107,885 – (Note) 

(Note) Since items subject to the designated hedge accounting (“Furiate-shori”) for foreign currency forward contracts, etc. are 

accounted for synthetically with accounts receivable - trade that are hedged items, their fair values are included in the fair 

values of the corresponding accounts receivable - trade. 
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Retirement Benefits 

1. Overview of retirement benefit plans adopted 

The Company has adopted a defined benefit pension plan. In addition, the Company participates in a multi-employer 

plan, the Japan Industrial Machine and Allied Products Employees’ Corporate Pension Fund. 

The multi-employer corporate pension fund plan is accounted for in the same manner as the defined contribution 

plans because the amount of pension plan assets corresponding to the Company’s own contributions cannot be 

reasonably calculated. 

 

2. Multi-employer plan 

The required contributions to the multi-employer employees’ pension fund and corporate pension fund plans, which 

are accounted for in the same manner as the defined contribution plans, were ¥211 million for the fiscal year ended 

March 31, 2024 and ¥208 million for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025. 

 

(1) Most recent funding status of multi-employer plan 
(Millions of yen) 

 As of March 31, 2024 As of March 31, 2025 

Amount of plan assets 15,832 18,848 

Total amount of actuarial liability and minimum 

actuarial reserve for the purpose of pension financing 

calculation 

19,987 19,558 

Net amount (4,155) (710) 

 

(2) The Group’s ratio of total contributions to the multi-employer plan 

11.0% for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024 

10.6% for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025 

 

(3) Supplementary explanation 

The net amount presented in (1) above was mainly due to the balance of prior service liability (negative ¥6,096 

million for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024 and negative ¥4,899 million for the fiscal year ended March 31, 

2025) and surplus (¥1,941 million for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024 and ¥1,941 million for the fiscal year 

ended March 31, 2025) for the purpose of pension financing calculation. Under the plan, prior service liability is 

amortized using the straight-line method over a period of 10 years and six months. The percentage shown in (2) 

above does not correspond to the Group’s actual contribution ratio. 
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3. Defined benefit plan 
(1) Reconciliation of beginning and ending balances of retirement benefit obligations 

(Thousands of yen) 

 
For the fiscal year 

ended March 31, 2024 
For the fiscal year 

ended March 31, 2025 

Retirement benefit obligations at beginning of period 6,997,648 6,259,386 

Service cost 324,220 278,491 

Interest cost 34,154 81,881 

Actuarial gains and losses incurred (676,621) (474,166) 

Accrual for prior service costs (157,833) – 

Retirement benefits paid (262,181) (377,749) 

Retirement benefit obligations at end of period 6,259,386 5,767,843 

 

(2) Reconciliation of beginning and ending balances of plan assets 
(Thousands of yen) 

 
For the fiscal year 

ended March 31, 2024 
For the fiscal year 

ended March 31, 2025 

Plan assets at beginning of period 6,337,187 6,859,852 

Expected return on plan assets 31,685 89,864 

Actuarial gains and losses incurred 509,151 (139,372) 

Contributions from employer 244,008 267,344 

Retirement benefits paid (262,181) (368,849) 

Plan assets at end of period 6,859,852 6,708,838 

 

(3) Reconciliation of retirement benefit obligations and plan assets at end of period with defined benefit liability and 

benefit assets on the consolidated balance sheets 
(Thousands of yen) 

 As of March 31, 2024 As of March 31, 2025 

Funded retirement benefit obligations 6,259,386 5,767,843 

Plan assets (6,859,852) (6,708,838) 

Net amount of liability and asset recorded in 

consolidated balance sheets 
(600,466) (940,995) 

   

Retirement benefit asset (600,466) (940,995) 

Net amount of liability and asset recorded in 

consolidated balance sheets 
(600,466) (940,995) 

 

(4) Components of retirement benefit expenses 
(Thousands of yen) 

 
For the fiscal year 

ended March 31, 2024 
For the fiscal year 

ended March 31, 2025 

Service cost 324,220 278,491 

Interest cost 34,154 81,881 

Expected return on plan assets (31,685) (89,864) 

Amortization of actuarial gains and losses (107,616) (214,238) 

Amortization of prior service costs (15,783) (15,783) 

Retirement benefit expenses on defined benefit plans 203,288 40,487 
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(5) Remeasurements of defined benefit plans 
Components of items recorded in remeasurements of defined benefit plans (before tax effect) were as follows: 

(Thousands of yen) 

 
For the fiscal year 

ended March 31, 2024 
For the fiscal year 

ended March 31, 2025 

Prior service cost 142,050 (15,783) 

Actuarial gains and losses 1,078,156 120,555 

Total 1,220,206 104,772 

 

(6) Accumulated remeasurements of defined benefit plans 
Components of items recorded in accumulated remeasurements of defined benefit plans (before deducting tax 

effect) were as follows: 
(Thousands of yen) 

 As of March 31, 2024 As of March 31, 2025 

Unrecognized prior service cost 142,050 126,266 

Unrecognized actuarial gains and losses 1,872,650 1,993,206 

Total 2,014,700 2,119,473 

 

(7) Plan assets 
(i) Major components of plan assets 

Classification of major plan assets and their composition within the total plan assets was as follows: 

 As of March 31, 2024 As of March 31, 2025 

Bonds 37 % 48 % 

Shares 25 % 24 % 

Alternatives 29 % 20 % 

Life insurance company general account 6 % 6 % 

Cash and deposits 3 % 2 % 

Other (0) % 0 % 

Total 100 % 100 % 

(Notes) 1. Alternatives consist primarily of hedge fund investments. 

2. The retirement benefit trust set up for the lump-sum payment plans represents 0% and 0% of the total plan assets as of 

March 31, 2024 and 2025, respectively. 

 

(ii) Determination procedure of long-term expected rate of return on plan assets 
In determining the long-term expected rate of return on plan assets, the Group considers the current and 

projected asset allocations as well as the current and future expected long-term rates of return on diverse 

assets that constitute the plan assets. 
 

(8) Actuarial assumptions 
Major actuarial assumptions 

 
For the fiscal year 

ended March 31, 2024 
For the fiscal year 

ended March 31, 2025 

Discount rate 1.3 % 2.0 % 

Long-term expected rate of return on plan assets 0.5 % 1.3 % 
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Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities 

1. The significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows: 

(Thousands of yen) 

 As of March 31, 2024 As of March 31, 2025 

Deferred tax assets:   

Inventories 156,820 232,731 

Accrued enterprise tax and 
business office tax 

61,950 104,210 

Unrealized gain on non-current 
assets 

1,296 851 

Provision for product warranties 40,657 38,096 

Accrued bonuses 300,654 316,907 

Land 569,871 569,965 

Investment securities 120,482 119,843 

Tax loss carryforwards (Note) 2,206 – 

Other 142,303 138,724 

Subtotal of deferred tax assets 1,396,242 1,521,330 

Valuation allowance for 
deductible temporary 
differences 

(691,996) (690,838) 

Subtotal of valuation allowance (691,996) (690,838) 

Total deferred tax assets 704,246 830,492 

Deferred tax liabilities:   

Valuation difference on available-
for-sale securities 

(1,593,903) (1,147,396) 

Retirement benefit asset (176,403) (280,127) 

Other (317,279) (316,364) 

Total deferred tax liabilities (2,087,586) (1,743,888) 

Deferred tax liabilities (Net) (1,383,340) (913,396) 

 

(Note) Tax loss carryforwards and resulting deferred tax assets by expiration period 
As of March 31, 2024 

(Thousands of yen) 

 
Within one 

year 

Due after 
one year 

but within 
two years 

Due after 
two years 
but within 
three years 

Due after 
three years 
but within 
four years 

Due after 
four years 
but within 
five years 

Due after 
five years 

Total 

Tax loss carryforwards – – – 2,206 – – 2,206 

Deferred tax assets – – – 2,206 – – 2,206 

Tax loss carryforwards were calculated by applying the effective statutory tax rate. 

 

As of March 31, 2025 
There are no applicable items. 
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2. The significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities in relation to revaluation reserve for land were as 

follows: 

(Thousands of yen) 

 As of March 31, 2024 As of March 31, 2025 

Deferred tax assets:   

Unrealized loss on land revaluation 923,260 923,260 

Subtotal of deferred tax assets 923,260 923,260 

Valuation allowance (923,260) (923,260) 

Total deferred tax assets – – 

Deferred tax liabilities:   
Unrealized gain on land 
revaluation 

(616,302) (616,302) 

Total deferred tax liabilities (616,302) (616,302) 

Deferred tax liabilities (Net) (616,302) (616,302) 

 

3. The reconciliation between the effective statutory tax rate and the actual effective tax rate after applying tax effect 

accounting was as follows: 

The description on the reconciliation of the significant difference between the effective statutory tax rate and the actual effective 

tax rate after applying tax effect accounting is omitted, as the difference was five percent or less of the effective statutory tax rate. 

 

Asset Retirement Obligations 

Notes are omitted due to their insignificance. 

 

Properties for Rent, etc. 

Notes are omitted due to their insignificance. 
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Revenue Recognition 

1. Information about breakdown of revenue from contracts with customers 

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024 

Major regional markets 

(Thousands of yen) 

 

Reportable segment 

Other (Note) Total 
Specially equipped 

vehicles 
Parts & repair Subtotal 

Japan 37,378,672 11,416,852 48,795,525 610,387 49,405,912 

Asia 1,451,896 778,507 2,230,403 – 2,230,403 

Other 1,372,048 120,913 1,492,961 – 1,492,961 

Revenue from contracts 
with customers 

40,202,618 12,316,273 52,518,891 610,387 53,129,278 

Net sales to external 
customers 

40,202,618 12,316,273 52,518,891 610,387 53,129,278 

(Note) The category “Other” is a business segment not included in the reportable segment and includes the used vehicles sales of 

aerial work platforms, etc., and education business, etc. 

 

Timing of revenue recognition 

(Thousands of yen) 

 

Reportable segment 

Other (Note 1) Total 
Specially equipped 

vehicles 
Parts & repair Subtotal 

Goods transferred at a 
point in time 

40,202,618 12,261,918 52,464,537 610,387 53,074,924 

Goods transferred over 
time (Note 2) 

– 54,354 54,354 – 54,354 

Revenue from contracts 
with customers 

40,202,618 12,316,273 52,518,891 610,387 53,129,278 

Net sales to external 
customers 

40,202,618 12,316,273 52,518,891 610,387 53,129,278 

(Notes) 1. The category “Other” is a business segment not included in the reportable segment and includes the used vehicles sales 

of aerial work platforms, etc., and education business, etc. 

2. Goods transferred over time are those related to maintenance contracts. 
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For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025 

Major regional markets 

(Thousands of yen) 

 

Reportable segment 

Other (Note) Total 
Specially equipped 

vehicles 
Parts & repair Subtotal 

Japan 42,946,627 11,728,860 54,675,488 590,661 55,266,150 

Asia 1,252,084 824,234 2,076,319 – 2,076,319 

Other 1,828,377 136,108 1,964,485 – 1,964,485 

Revenue from contracts 
with customers 

46,027,090 12,689,203 58,716,293 590,661 59,306,955 

Net sales to external 
customers 

46,027,090 12,689,203 58,716,293 590,661 59,306,955 

(Note) The category “Other” is a business segment not included in the reportable segment and includes the used vehicles sales of 

aerial work platforms, etc., and education business, etc. 

 

Timing of revenue recognition 

(Thousands of yen) 

 

Reportable segment 

Other (Note 1) Total 
Specially equipped 

vehicles 
Parts & repair Subtotal 

Goods transferred at a 
point in time 

46,027,090 12,634,183 58,661,273 590,661 59,251,934 

Goods transferred over 
time (Note 2) 

– 55,020 55,020 – 55,020 

Revenue from contracts 
with customers 

46,027,090 12,689,203 58,716,293 590,661 59,306,955 

Net sales to external 
customers 

46,027,090 12,689,203 58,716,293 590,661 59,306,955 

(Notes) 1. The category “Other” is a business segment not included in the reportable segment and includes the used vehicles sales 

of aerial work platforms, etc., and education business, etc. 

2. Goods transferred over time are those related to maintenance contracts. 

 

2. Useful information in understanding revenue from contracts with customers 

Revenue is measured at consideration promised in contracts with customers less discounts, etc. The amounts of 

discounts are determined at the conclusion of the said contracts and therefore do not alter consideration in relation 

with revenue in the current fiscal year. 

Consideration for these performance obligations is received generally within one year after the performance 

obligations are satisfied under separately prescribed payment terms, and includes no significant financing components. 

Under sales contracts related to specially equipped vehicles, the Group has warranty obligations that promise to repair 

faults that arise within the warranty period without fee. The warranty provides assurance that the product complies 

with agreed-upon specifications and will operate as promised, and thus, is recognized as a provision for product 

warranties. 

 
  



―31― 

3. Reconciliation of satisfaction of performance obligations under contracts with customers and cash flows arising from 

such contracts, and the amount and timing of revenue expected to be recognized in the next fiscal year and thereafter 

arising from contracts with customers that existed at the end of the current fiscal year 

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024 

(1) Balance of contract liabilities 

 (Thousands of yen) 

 As of March 31, 2024 

Receivables from contracts with customers (balance 
at beginning of period) 

23,471,637 

Receivables from contracts with customers (balance 
at end of period) 

17,078,985 

Contract assets (balance at beginning of period) – 

Contract assets (balance at end of period) – 

Contract liabilities (balance at beginning of period) 174,141 

Contract liabilities (balance at end of period) 226,462 

Contract liabilities are recorded under other of current liabilities. Contract liabilities are related to advances 

received from customers based on the payment terms agreed with customers for contracts in which revenue from 

the sales, repair, etc., of specially equipped vehicles or their parts is recognized when those products or services 

are accepted by customers, and for contracts in which revenue is recognized over time as the performance 

obligations for after-sales services are satisfied. Contract liabilities are reversed upon recognition of revenue. 

Revenue recognized in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024 that was included in the contract liability balance at 

the beginning of the period was ¥122,012 thousand. 

The amount of revenue recognized in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025 from performance obligations that 

were satisfied in previous periods is immaterial. 

 

(2) Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations 

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries have applied the practical expedient to the notes on transaction 

prices allocated to the remaining performance obligations, and do not disclose transaction prices related to 

contracts with an original expected duration of one year or less. For maintenance contracts with servicing 

periods longer than one year, the total transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations and 

the time frame the Company expects to recognize the amount as revenue are as follows: 

 (Thousands of yen) 

 As of March 31, 2024 

Within one year 533,377 

Due after one year but within two years 454,902 

Due after two years but within three years 267,706 

Due after three years 559,642 

Total 1,815,628 
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For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025 

(1) Balance of contract liabilities 

 (Thousands of yen) 

 As of March 31, 2025 

Receivables from contracts with customers (balance 
at beginning of period) 

17,078,985 

Receivables from contracts with customers (balance 
at end of period) 

16,214,616 

Contract assets (balance at beginning of period) – 

Contract assets (balance at end of period) – 

Contract liabilities (balance at beginning of period) 226,462 

Contract liabilities (balance at end of period) 158,558 

Contract liabilities are recorded under other of current liabilities. Contract liabilities are related to advances 

received from customers based on the payment terms agreed with customers for contracts in which revenue from 

the sales, repair, etc., of specially equipped vehicles or their parts is recognized when those products or services 

are accepted by customers, and for contracts in which revenue is recognized over time as the performance 

obligations for after-sales services are satisfied. Contract liabilities are reversed upon recognition of revenue. 

Revenue recognized in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025 that was included in the contract liability balance at 

the beginning of the period was ¥226,335 thousand. 

The amount of revenue recognized in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025 from performance obligations that 

were satisfied in previous periods is immaterial. 

 

(2) Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations 

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries have applied the practical expedient to the notes on transaction 

prices allocated to the remaining performance obligations, and do not disclose transaction prices related to 

contracts with an original expected duration of one year or less. For maintenance contracts with servicing 

periods longer than one year, the total transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations and 

the time frame the Company expects to recognize the amount as revenue are as follows: 

 (Thousands of yen) 

 As of March 31, 2025 

Within one year 475,468 

Due after one year but within two years 495,076 

Due after two years but within three years 279,295 

Due after three years 633,531 

Total 1,883,372 
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Segment Information, etc. 

Segment Information 

1. Overview of reportable segments 

Method for determining reportable segments 

The reportable segments of the Company are constituent units of the Company, for which separate financial 

information is available. The Board of Directors of the Company examines these units regularly to determine the 

allocation of management resources and to assess segment performance. 

The Group engages in businesses associated with the manufacturing and selling of aerial work platforms and other 

vehicles, as well as providing after-sales services therefor. The Group’s reportable segments comprise specially 

equipped vehicles, their parts and repair services based on sales from the manufacture and sale of aerial work 

platforms and other vehicles, after-sales service, and so forth. 

The Specially Equipped Vehicles segment engages in the business of new vehicle sales, including aerial work 

platforms. The Parts & Repair segment engages in the business of after-sales services for aerial work platforms and 

other vehicles. 

 

2. Method for calculating net sales, profit and loss, assets, liabilities, and other amounts by reportable segment 

The accounting treatment of reportable business segments is generally consistent with those described in “Summary 

of Significant Accounting Policies.” 

Intra-group sales or transfers are based on the arm’s length principle. 

 

3. Information on net sales, profit and loss, assets, liabilities, and other items by reportable segment 

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024 

    (Thousands of yen) 

 

Reportable segment 
Other (Note 1) Total 

Specially equipped 
vehicles 

Parts & repair Subtotal 

Net sales      

Net sales to external 
customers 

40,202,618 12,316,273 52,518,891 610,387 53,129,278 

Intra-group sales or transfers 2,289,186 81,237 2,370,424 – 2,370,424 

Subtotal 42,491,804 12,397,510 54,889,315 610,387 55,499,702 

Segment profit 7,518,120 4,122,891 11,641,011 109,065 11,750,076 

Segment assets – – – – 94,921,617 

Segment liabilities – – – – 13,132,554 

Other items      

Depreciation 801,308 136,687 937,995 4,537 942,533 

Increase in property, plant 
and equipment and 
intangible assets 

– – – – 969,319 

(Notes) 1. The category “Other” is a business segment not included in the reportable segment and includes the used vehicles sales 

of aerial work platforms, etc., and education business, etc. 

2. Each entity of the Group engages in businesses associated with the manufacturing and selling of aerial work platforms 

and other vehicles, as well as providing ancillary services such as after-sales services. The Group classifies its reportable 

segments on a net sales basis. As a result, the Group considers it difficult to report assets, liabilities, and other items by 

reportable segment. Therefore, only the total amount is presented. 

3. Segment profit was reconciled to gross profit in the consolidated statements of income after eliminating intercompany 

transactions. 
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For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025 

    (Thousands of yen) 

 

Reportable segment 
Other (Note 1) Total 

Specially equipped 
vehicles 

Parts & repair Subtotal 

Net sales      

Net sales to external 
customers 

46,027,090 12,689,203 58,716,293 590,661 59,306,955 

Intra-group sales or transfers 2,614,276 178,474 2,792,751 – 2,792,751 

Subtotal 48,641,367 12,867,678 61,509,045 590,661 62,099,707 

Segment profit 8,620,989 4,407,016 13,028,006 104,646 13,132,653 

Segment assets – – – – 100,358,946 

Segment liabilities – – – – 16,335,376 

Other items      

Depreciation 991,208 142,302 1,133,510 7,040 1,140,550 

Increase in property, plant 
and equipment and intangible 
assets 

– – – – 3,452,975 

(Notes) 1. The category “Other” is a business segment not included in the reportable segment and includes the used vehicles sales 

of aerial work platforms, etc., and education business, etc. 

2. Each entity of the Group engages in businesses associated with the manufacturing and selling of aerial work platforms 

and other vehicles, as well as providing ancillary services such as after-sales services. The Group classifies its reportable 

segments on a net sales basis. As a result, the Group considers it difficult to report assets, liabilities, and other items by 

reportable segment. Therefore, only the total amount is presented. 

3. Segment profit was reconciled to gross profit in the consolidated statements of income after eliminating intercompany 

transactions.  
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4. Reconciliation between the total of reportable segments and the amounts on consolidated financial statements 

(Thousands of yen) 

Net sales As of March 31, 2024 As of March 31, 2025 

Total of reportable segments 54,889,315 61,509,045 

Net sales in the category “Other” 610,387 590,661 

Elimination of intercompany transactions (2,370,424) (2,792,751) 

Net sales on consolidated financial statements 53,129,278 59,306,955 

 

(Thousands of yen) 

Profit As of March 31, 2024 As of March 31, 2025 

Total of reportable segments 11,641,011 13,028,006 

Profit in the category “Other” 109,065 104,646 

Elimination of intercompany transactions 29,126 (78,814) 

Corporate expenses (Note) (5,437,588) (5,613,628) 

Operating profit on consolidated financial statements 6,341,615 7,440,210 

(Note) Corporate expenses mainly comprise selling, general and administrative expenses that are not allocated to reportable 

segments. 
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Related Information 

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024 

1. Information by product and service 

    (Thousands of yen) 

 Aerial work platforms Inspection & repair Other Total 

Net sales to external 
customers 

35,568,391 5,821,565 11,739,321 53,129,278 

 

2. Information by geographic area 

(1) Net sales 

This information is omitted because net sales to external customers in Japan account for more than 90% of net 

sales shown in the consolidated statements of income. 

 

(2) Property, plant and equipment 

This information is omitted because the amount of property, plant and equipment in Japan accounts for more than 

90% of that in the consolidated balance sheets. 

 

3. Information by major customer 

This information is omitted because no net sales from external customers accounted for 10% or more of that on the 

consolidated statements of income. 

 

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025 

1. Information by product and service 
    (Thousands of yen) 

 Aerial work platforms Inspection & repair Other Total 

Net sales to external 
customers 

38,734,765 5,890,104 14,682,085 59,306,955 

 

2. Information by geographic area 

(1) Net sales 

This information is omitted because net sales to external customers in Japan account for more than 90% of net 

sales shown in the consolidated statements of income. 

 

(2) Property, plant and equipment 

This information is omitted because the amount of property, plant and equipment in Japan accounts for more than 

90% of that in the consolidated balance sheets. 

 

3. Information by major customer 

This information is omitted because no net sales from external customers accounted for 10% or more of that on the 

consolidated statements of income. 
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Information on Impairment Loss on Non-current Assets by Reportable Segment 

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024 
(Thousands of yen) 

 
Reportable segment 

Other 
Elimination/ 

Corporate 
Total 

Specially 
equipped vehicles 

Parts & repair Subtotal 

Impairment 
losses 

– – – – – 415 

(Notes) 1. “Other” represents the used vehicles sales such as aerial work platforms, education business, and so forth. 

2. Although impairment loss was incurred on idle assets, it is difficult to allocate the loss to each reportable segment. 

Therefore, only the total amount is presented. 

 

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025 
(Thousands of yen) 

 
Reportable segment 

Other 
Elimination/ 

Corporate 
Total 

Specially 
equipped vehicles 

Parts & repair Subtotal 

Impairment 
losses 

– – – – – 306 

(Notes) 1. “Other” represents the used vehicles sales such as aerial work platforms, education business, and so forth. 

2. Although impairment loss was incurred on idle assets, it is difficult to allocate the loss to each reportable segment. 

Therefore, only the total amount is presented. 

 

Information on Amortization and Unamortized Balance of Goodwill by Reportable Segment 

As of March 31, 2024 and 2025 

There are no applicable items. 

 

Information on Gain on Bargain Purchase by Reportable Segment 

As of March 31, 2024 and 2025 

There are no applicable items. 
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Related Parties 

1. Related party transactions 

Transactions between the Company filing the consolidated financial statements and its related parties 

Parent company and major shareholders (limited to companies, etc.) of the Company filing consolidated financial 

statements 

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024 

Type 

Name of the 

related 

company 

Location 

Capital 

(Thousands of 

yen) 

Description of 

business 

Equity 

ownership 

percentage 

Relationship with the 

related party 

Nature of 

transactions 

Transaction 

amount 

(Thousands of 

yen) 

Account 

Balance at 

year-end 

(Thousands of 

yen) 

Parent 

company 

Toyota 

Industries 

Corporation 

Kariya-

shi, 

Aichi 

80,462,672 

Manufacture 

and sale of 

automobiles, 

industrial 

vehicles, and 

textile 

machinery, 

etc. 

54.3 

Sale of specially 

equipped vehicles as 

well as sale and 

purchase of their parts; 

concurrent 

appointments of 

officers; and deposits of 

funds 

Deposits paid 

(Net)* 
37,865,486 – – 

(Note) Commercial terms and conditions 

* With regards to deposits paid, the Company conducted transactions using CMS (Cash Management Service) operated by 

Toyota Industries Corporation, and charged a reasonable interest on deposits paid in accordance with market interest 

rates. After full consideration of future capital needs and the environment surrounding the Company, the entire amount 

deposited with CMS has been transferred to a bank. The transaction amount is indicated on a net value basis. 

 

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025 

There are no applicable items. 

 

2. Notes on the parent company and significant affiliates 

(1) Information about the parent company 

Toyota Industrial Corporation ceased to be the Company’s parent company as of May 14, 2025 by tendering 

shares in the tender offer for treasury shares based on a resolution made at a board meeting held on March 19, 

2025. For details, please refer to “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Subsequent Events” in 1. 

Consolidated Financial Statements, etc. under 5. Financial Information. 

 

(2) Condensed financial information of significant affiliates 

There are no applicable items. 
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Per Share Information 

(Yen) 

 
For the fiscal year 

ended March 31, 2024 
For the fiscal year 

ended March 31, 2025 

Net assets per share 1,096.95 1,126.92 

Basic earnings per share 70.26 84.96 

(Notes) 1. Basic earnings per share (diluted) is not stated as there are no shares with a dilutive effect. 

2. The basis for the calculation of basic earnings per share was as follows: 

(Thousands of yen unless otherwise stated) 

 
For the fiscal year 

ended March 31, 2024 
For the fiscal year 

ended March 31, 2025 

Profit attributable to owners of parent  5,270,078 6,334,645 

Amount not attributable to common 

shareholders 
– – 

Profit attributable to common 

shareholders of parent 
5,270,078 6,334,645 

Average number of common shares 

outstanding during the period 
75,010 74,560 
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Subsequent Events 

Acquisition of treasury shares and tender offer for treasury shares 

The Company resolved at its board meeting held on March 19, 2025 to acquire treasury shares pursuant to the provisions 

of Article 156, Paragraph 1 of the Companies Act as applied mutatis mutandis pursuant to the provisions of Article 165, 

Paragraph 3 of the same Act and the Company’s Articles of Incorporation and, as a specific method thereof, conduct a 

tender offer for treasury shares (the “Tender Offer”), and conducted the acquisition of treasury shares on May 14, 2025. 

 

1. Purpose of the acquisition of treasury shares and the tender offer 

The Company considers not only dividends but also acquisition of treasury stock as an important means of returning 

profits to shareholders, and has been considering such acquisition as necessary, taking into account stock price trends 

and financial conditions. 

In addition, the Company has continuously had wide-ranging discussions with Toyota Industries Corporation (“Toyota 

Industries”), its major shareholder and parent company, regarding a review of the capital relationship of the parent-

subsidiary listing in order to maximize the corporate value of both companies. 

In the course of continuing such discussions, the Company received an offer from Toyota Industries, in which Toyota 

Industries proposed selling a portion of the Company’s shares to ITOCHU Corporation (“ITOCHU”) in order to dissolve 

the parent-subsidiary listing relationship with the company. The aim of this offer was to enhance the corporate value of 

the Company, Toyota Industries, and ITOCHU, and the Company was asked to consider accepting it. 

As a result of consideration, consensus was reached that the acquisition of a portion of the Company’s shares as treasury 

shares, in addition to the sale of the Company’s shares held by Toyota Industries to ITOCHU, would contribute to 

improving the Company’s capital efficiency, including basic earnings per share (EPS) and return on equity (ROE), 

leading to a return to shareholders, and would be a more rational measure for the Company. Following that, the Company 

conducted the purchase of treasury shares. 

2. Details of the resolution at the board meeting regarding the purchase of treasury shares 

(1) Class of shares to be acquired Common shares 

(2) Total number of shares to be acquired 10,000,100 shares (upper limit) 

(3) Total cost of acquisition 12,830,128,300 yen (upper limit) 

(4) Period of acquisition From March 21, 2025 to June 30, 2025 

3. Overview of the tender offer 

(1) Period of purchase From March 21, 2025 to April 17, 2025 

(2) Price of purchase 1,283 yen per share of common shares 

(3) Number of shares planned for purchase 10,000,000 shares 

(4) Date of publication for commencement of tender offer March 21, 2025 

(5) Commencement date of settlement May 14, 2025 

4. Results of the tender offer 

(1) Class of shares acquired Common shares 

(2) Total number of shares tendered 44,567,227 shares 

(3) Total number of shares acquired 10,000,000 shares 

(4) Total cost of acquisition 12,830,000,000 yen 

Toyota Industries, which was the Company’s parent company, transferred 9,092,100 shares of the Company’s common 

shares to the Company by tendering shares in the tender offer and ceased to be the Company’s parent company as of 

May 14, 2025, the commencement date of settlement for the tender offer. 

Toyota Industries transferred 17,608,900 shares of the Company’s common shares to ITOCHU on May 15, 2025. As a 

result, the number of voting rights of the Company’s common shares held by Toyota Industries after the share transfer 

(13,820,000 shares) is 138,200 (21.41% of the voting rights). The number of voting rights of the Company’s common 

shares held by ITOCHU after the share transfer (17,608,900 shares) is 176,089 (27.28% of the voting rights). 
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(v) Annexed Consolidated Detailed Schedules 

Annexed Consolidated Detailed Schedule of Corporate Bonds 

There are no applicable items. 

 

Annexed Consolidated Detailed Schedule of Borrowings 

(Thousands of yen unless otherwise stated) 

Category 
Balance at beginning 

of period 
Balance at end of 

period 
Average interest rate 

(%) 
Repayment due 

Short-term borrowings – – – – 

Current portion of long-term borrowings – – – – 

Current portion of lease liabilities 72,642 59,582 – – 

Long-term borrowings (except for current 
portion) 

– – – – 

Lease liabilities (except for current 
portion) 

183,348 154,999 – 
April 29, 2026 

through August 23, 
2032 

Other interest-bearing debt – – – – 

Total 255,990 214,581 – – 

(Notes) 1. The average interest rate on lease liabilities is not stated because these liabilities are recorded on the consolidated 

balance sheets in the amount before deducting the amount equivalent to interest included in the total lease payments. 

2. Annual repayment schedule of lease liabilities (except for the current portion) and other interest-bearing debt over a 

period of five years from the fiscal year-end is as follows: 

(Thousands of yen) 

Category 
Due after one year but 

within two years 
Due after two years but 

within three years 
Due after three years 
but within four years 

Due after four years 
but within five years 

Lease liabilities 47,765 40,783 34,020 11,414 

 

Annexed Consolidated Detailed Schedule of Asset Retirement Obligations 

This information is omitted as the beginning and ending balances of asset retirement obligations for the fiscal 

year ended March 31, 2025 were one percent or less of the total beginning and ending balances of liabilities and 

net assets of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025. 
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(2) Other 

Semi-annual financial information for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025 
 

Cumulative period 
Consolidated 

cumulative period for 
the first three months 

Interim consolidated 
accounting period 

Consolidated 
cumulative period for 
the first nine months 

Full year 

Net sales 
(Thousand 

of yen) 
12,746,334 28,079,257 41,375,171 59,306,955 

Profit before income 
taxes 

(Thousand 
of yen) 

1,183,489 3,152,824 5,345,961 8,980,820 

Profit attributable to 
owners of parent 

(Thousand 
of yen) 

831,913 2,218,140 3,767,114 6,334,645 

Basic earnings per 
share 

(Yen) 11.16 29.75 50.52 84.96 

 

Accounting period 
First Quarter 
consolidated 

accounting period 

Second Quarter 
consolidated 

accounting period 

Third Quarter 
consolidated 

accounting period 

Fourth Quarter 
consolidated 

accounting period 

Basic earnings per 
share 

(Yen) 11.16 18.59 20.77 34.44 

(Note) Review of financial information for the consolidated cumulative periods for first three months and for the first nine 

months: None 
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2. Non-consolidated Financial Statements, etc. 

(1) Non-consolidated Financial Statements 

(i) Non-consolidated Balance Sheets 
           (Thousands of yen) 
          

As of March 31, 2024 As of March 31, 2025 

Assets   

 Current assets   

  Cash and deposits 40,839,768 45,376,900 

  Notes receivable - trade *2 3,301,753 336,440 

  
Electronically recorded monetary claims - 
operating 

2,086,301 1,945,752 

  Accounts receivable - trade 11,715,904 13,923,669 

  Merchandise and finished goods 2,770,963 1,789,780 

  Work in process 1,570,699 1,110,777 

  Raw materials and supplies 1,329,006 3,802,888 

  Other 550,542 1,123,609 

  Total current assets *1 64,164,939 *1 69,409,818 

 Non-current assets   

  Property, plant and equipment   

   Buildings 5,907,638 5,592,468 

   Structures 473,129 398,285 

   Machinery and equipment 1,209,509 1,292,293 

   Vehicles 28,069 22,112 

   Tools, furniture and fixtures 177,207 147,716 

   Land 8,522,521 9,648,734 

   Construction in progress 134,614 1,519,142 

   Other 226,317 196,435 

   Total property, plant and equipment 16,679,007 18,817,187 

  Intangible assets   

   Right to use water facilities 658 564 

   Software 265,866 242,521 

   Other 20,156 10,462 

   Total intangible assets 286,680 253,547 
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           (Thousands of yen) 
          

As of March 31, 2024 As of March 31, 2025 

  Investments and other assets   

   Investment securities 7,066,511 5,395,663 

   Investments in capital 1,080 1,080 

   
Investments in capital of subsidiaries and 
associates 

1,420,530 1,420,530 

   Long-term prepaid expenses 94,767 65,763 

   Guarantee deposits 53,455 80,925 

   Other 15,625 31,533 

   Allowance for doubtful accounts (5,301) (5,107) 

   Total investments and other assets 8,646,668 6,990,389 

  Total non-current assets 25,612,356 26,061,124 

 Total assets 89,777,295 95,470,943 

Liabilities   

 Current liabilities   

  Notes payable - trade 1,097,968 64,904 

  Electronically recorded obligations - operating 2,817,383 5,521,450 

  Accounts payable - trade 3,590,069 4,161,669 

  Accounts payable - other 611,060 603,597 

  Accrued expenses 1,349,944 1,445,789 

  Income taxes payable 862,617 1,775,706 

  Accrued consumption taxes – 391,212 

  Deposits received 324,503 274,685 

  Unearned revenue 475 470 

  
Provision for bonuses for directors (and other 
officers) 

38,000 26,000 

  Provision for product warranties 133,476 125,071 

  Notes payable - facilities 48,617 83,582 

  
Electronically recorded obligations-operating-
facilities 

12,569 140,576 

  Other 72,642 59,582 

  Total current liabilities *1 10,959,328 *1 14,674,297 

 Non-current liabilities   

  Deferred tax liabilities 526,201 46,680 

  Deferred tax liabilities for land revaluation 616,302 616,302 

  Provision for retirement benefits 1,414,234 1,178,477 

  Other 222,859 192,786 

  Total non-current liabilities 2,779,599 2,034,246 

 Total liabilities 13,738,927 16,708,543 
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           (Thousands of yen) 
          

As of March 31, 2024 As of March 31, 2025 

Net assets   

 Shareholders’ equity   

  Share capital 10,425,325 10,425,325 

  Capital surplus   

   Legal capital surplus 9,941,842 9,941,842 

   Total capital surplus 9,941,842 9,941,842 

  Retained earnings   

   Other retained earnings   

    Retained earnings brought forward 53,278,547 57,025,983 

   Total retained earnings 53,278,547 57,025,983 

  Treasury shares (8,939) (9,231) 

  Total shareholders’ equity 73,636,774 77,383,919 

 Valuation and translation adjustments   

  Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities 4,025,637 3,002,523 

  Revaluation reserve for land (1,624,044) (1,624,044) 

  Total valuation and translation adjustments 2,401,593 1,378,479 

 Total net assets 76,038,368 78,762,399 

Total liabilities and net assets 89,777,295 95,470,943 
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(ii) Non-consolidated Statements of Income 
           (Thousands of yen) 
          

For the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2024 

For the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2025 

Net sales *1 52,956,747 *1 59,235,838 

Cost of sales *1 41,562,121 *1 46,674,399 

Gross profit 11,394,626 12,561,438 

Selling, general and administrative expenses *1,2 5,176,021 *1,2 5,325,960 

Operating profit 6,218,605 7,235,477 

Non-operating income   

 Interest and dividend income 186,590 1,377,650 

 Foreign exchange gains 16,175 – 

 Miscellaneous income 33,385 30,051 

 Total non-operating income *1 236,152 *1 1,407,701 

Non-operating expenses   

 Foreign exchange gains – 5,935 

 Miscellaneous losses 1,987 571 

 Total non-operating expenses *1 1,987 *1 6,506 

Ordinary profit 6,452,770 8,636,672 

Extraordinary income   

 Gain on sale of non-current assets 763 – 

 Gain on sale of investment securities 469,008 871,100 

 Total extraordinary income 469,771 871,100 

Extraordinary losses   

 Loss on retirement of non-current assets 998 12,686 

 Loss on sale of investment securities – 765 

 Impairment losses 415 306 

 TOB related expenses – *3 101,570 

 Total extraordinary losses 1,414 115,329 

Profit before income taxes 6,921,127 9,392,443 

Income taxes - current 1,984,865 2,621,052 

Income taxes - deferred 234,780 (33,014) 

Total income taxes 2,219,645 2,588,037 

Profit 4,701,481 6,804,406 
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(iii) Non-consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024 

 (Thousands of yen) 

 

Shareholders’ equity 

Share capital 

Capital surplus Retained earnings 

Legal capital surplus Other capital surplus Total capital surplus 

Other retained 

earnings Total retained 

earnings Retained earnings 

brought forward 

Balance at beginning of 

period 
10,425,325 9,941,842 – 9,941,842 52,025,180 52,025,180 

Changes during period       

Dividends of surplus     (2,858,014) (2,858,014) 

Profit     4,701,481 4,701,481 

Purchase of treasury 

shares 
      

Cancellation of treasury 

shares 
  (590,100) (590,100)   

Transfer from retained 

earnings to capital 

surplus 

  590,100 590,100 (590,100) (590,100) 

Net changes in items 

other than shareholders’ 

equity 

      

Total changes during 

period 
– – – – 1,253,366 1,253,366 

Balance at end of period 10,425,325 9,941,842 – 9,941,842 53,278,547 53,278,547 

 

 

Shareholders’ equity Valuation and translation adjustments 

Total net assets 
Treasury shares 

Total shareholders’ 

equity 

Valuation difference 

on available-for-sale 

securities 

Revaluation reserve 

for land 

Total valuation and 

translation 

adjustments 

Balance at beginning of 

period 
(313) 72,392,034 3,882,938 (1,624,044) 2,258,894 74,650,928 

Changes during period       

Dividends of surplus  (2,858,014)    (2,858,014) 

Profit  4,701,481    4,701,481 

Purchase of treasury 

shares 
(598,726) (598,726)    (598,726) 

Cancellation of treasury 

shares 
590,100 –    – 

Transfer from retained 

earnings to capital 

surplus 

 –    – 

Net changes in items 

other than shareholders’ 

equity 

  142,698 – 142,698 142,698 

Total changes during 

period 
(8,625) 1,244,740 142,698 – 142,698 1,387,439 

Balance at end of period (8,939) 73,636,774 4,025,637 (1,624,044) 2,401,593 76,038,368 
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For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025 

 (Thousands of yen) 

 

Shareholders’ equity 

Share capital 

Capital surplus Retained earnings 

Legal capital surplus Total capital surplus 

Other retained earnings 

Total retained earnings Retained earnings 

brought forward 

Balance at beginning of 

period 
10,425,325 9,941,842 9,941,842 53,278,547 53,278,547 

Changes during period      

Dividends of surplus    (3,056,969) (3,056,969) 

Profit    6,804,406 6,804,406 

Purchase of treasury 

shares 
     

Net changes in items 

other than shareholders’ 

equity 

     

Total changes during 

period 
– – – 3,747,436 3,747,436 

Balance at end of period 10,425,325 9,941,842 9,941,842 57,025,983 57,025,983 

 

 

Shareholders’ equity Valuation and translation adjustments 

Total net assets 
Treasury shares 

Total shareholders’ 

equity 

Valuation difference 

on available-for-sale 

securities 

Revaluation reserve 

for land 

Total valuation and 

translation 

adjustments 

Balance at beginning of 

period 
(8,939) 73,636,774 4,025,637 (1,624,044) 2,401,593 76,038,368 

Changes during period       

Dividends of surplus  (3,056,969)    (3,056,969) 

Profit  6,804,406    6,804,406 

Purchase of treasury 

shares 
(291) (291)    (291) 

Net changes in items 

other than shareholders’ 

equity 

  (1,023,113) – (1,023,113) (1,023,113) 

Total changes during 

period 
(291) 3,747,144 (1,023,113) – (1,023,113) 2,724,031 

Balance at end of period (9,231) 77,383,919 3,002,523 (1,624,044) 1,378,479 78,762,399 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

Significant Accounting Policies 

1. Valuation of securities 

(1) Available-for-sale securities 

Securities other than shares, etc., that do not have a market price: 

Stated at fair value 

(Net unrealized gains or losses are reported as a separate component in net assets, net of applicable income 

taxes. Gains and losses on disposition are computed mainly based on the moving average method.) 

Shares, etc., that do not have a market price: 

Stated at cost, cost mainly being determined by the moving average method. 

(2) Shares of subsidiaries and affiliates 

Stated at cost, cost being determined by the moving average method. 

 

2. Valuation of inventories 

Inventories are stated at cost (write-down due to decreased profitability). 

(1) Finished goods and work in process are evaluated using the specific identification method. 

(2) Raw materials are evaluated using the moving average method. 

(3) Supplies are stated at cost, cost being determined by the last purchase price method. 

 

3. Valuation of derivatives 

Derivatives are stated at fair value. 

 

4. Method of depreciation or amortization of non-current assets 

(1) Property, plant and equipment (except for leased assets) are depreciated by the declining-balance method. 

However, buildings (except for facilities attached to buildings) acquired on and after April 1, 1998 and facilities 

attached to buildings and structures acquired on and after April 1, 2016 are depreciated by the straight-line method. 

(2) Intangible assets (except for leased assets) are amortized based on the straight-line method. 

In addition, software for internal use is amortized by the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives 

(five years). 

(3) Leased assets 

Leased assets related to finance lease transactions that do not transfer ownership 

Depreciation of leased assets is computed by the straight-line method over the lease period deemed as useful lives 

with no residual value. 

(4) Long-term prepaid expenses are amortized by the straight-line method. 

 
 

5. Allowances and provisions 

(1) Allowance for doubtful accounts 

The Company provides for estimated losses on accounts receivable based on prior bad debt experience and a 

review of existing receivable balances. The Company reviews individual financial conditions for doubtful or 

troubled receivables and provides for losses on uncollectible amounts. In addition, a general reserve for other 

accounts receivable is provided based on historical loss experience for certain past periods. 

(2) Provision for bonuses for directors (and other officers) 

The Company provides for estimated payment of bonuses to directors. 

(3) Provision for product warranties 

The Company provides for estimated warranty costs based on the Company’s prior experience and estimated costs 

to be incurred individually calculated for certain products. 
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(4) Provision for retirement benefits 

The Company provides for estimated cost for future severance payments to employees based on the actuarial 

present value of retirement benefit obligations and pension plan assets. 

(i) Method of attributing projected benefit obligation to periods 

In calculating retirement benefit obligations, the projected benefit obligation attributed to the current fiscal 

year is determined using the benefit formula basis. 

(ii) Calculation treatment for actuarial gains or losses and prior service costs 

Actuarial gains or losses are amortized in the fiscal year following the fiscal year in which the gain or loss is 

recognized by the straight-line method over a fixed period (10 years), which is shorter than the average 

remaining years of service of the employees. 

Prior service costs are amortized when the prior service costs are recognized by the straight-line method over 

a fixed period (10 years), which is shorter than the average remaining years of service of the employee. 

 

6. Accounting standards for revenue and expense recognition 

The Company manufactures and sells specially equipped vehicles such as digger derricks, aerial work platforms and 

skid-steer loaders, sells their parts, and provides after-sales services such as repairs. The Company also provides 

training in the operation of aerial work platforms, etc. The Company usually recognizes revenue from the sales of 

these products and the provision of these services when they are accepted by customers because customers obtain 

control of these products and services, and the performance obligations are satisfied when the products and services 

are accepted by customers. However, the Company recognizes revenue from the sole domestic sales of parts at their 

shipment by applying the alternative treatment as stipulated in Paragraph 98 of the “Implementation Guidance on 

Accounting Standard for Revenue Recognition” (ASBJ Guidance No. 30) when the period between the shipment and 

the transfer of control of these parts to customers falls under the usual period. 

There are cases where long-term maintenance contracts are concluded with customers as an after-sales service 

business and customers receive benefits from the provision of these services as the performance obligations are 

satisfied. The Company recognizes revenue from these services over the contract periods because the performance 

obligations of these services are satisfied over time. 

For parts supply transactions for fees relating to specially equipped vehicles for which manufacturing consignment 

agreements are received from customers, the Company recognizes revenue from the sales of these specially equipped 

vehicles at the amounts excluding the amounts of parts supplied for fees. 

 

7. Hedge accounting 

Deferred hedge accounting is applied. 

Designated hedge accounting (“Furiate-shori”) is applied for foreign currency forward contracts that meet 

qualifications for designated hedge accounting. 

 

8. Summary of Other Significant Accounting Policies 

Retirement benefits 

The accounting treatment for unrecognized actuarial differences for retirement benefits differ from that of the 

consolidated financial statements. 
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Significant Accounting Estimates 

Provision for product warranties 

(1) Amounts recognized in the non-consolidated financial statements as of March 31, 2025 

 (Thousands of yen) 

As of March 31, 2024 As of March 31, 2025 

133,476 125,071 

 

(2) Information on the significant accounting estimates of the identified items 

The provision for product warranties is categorized into a provision for free repairs carried out within the warranty 

period and a provision for free repairs to rectify defects in specific products. 

For the provision for free repairs carried out within the warranty period, future product warranty expenses are 

estimated and recognized in a lump sum based on the actual ratio of warranty expenses incurred to sales. 

For specific products subject to measures for rectifying defects, expected product warranty expenses are estimated 

and recognized individually based on the number of units to be rectified, the estimated cost of repair per unit, the 

percentage of the units that have actually been repaired, and the percentage of the liability shared with suppliers. 

If liabilities arise due to product defects that were not expected when the estimates were made for the provision, 

or if warranty expenses exceed the provision, it may become necessary to recognize additional provision for 

product warranties. 

Meanwhile, if the actual warranty expenses turn out to be smaller than the provision, a reversal of the provision 

will be recognized. 
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Non-consolidated Balance Sheets 

*1 Investments in capital of affiliates included in “Other” were as follows: (excluding those presented as separate lines) 

(Thousands of yen) 

 As of March 31, 2024 As of March 31, 2025 

Short-term receivables 608,596 1,436,336 

Short-term payables 284,312 295,552 

 

*2 Notes maturing at the end of the fiscal year are settled on the clearance date of the notes. Because the last day of the 

previous fiscal year fell on a holiday of financial institutions, the following notes maturing on the last day of the 

fiscal year were included in the balance at the end of the fiscal year. 

(Thousands of yen) 

 As of March 31, 2024 As of March 31, 2025 

Notes receivable - trade 814,019 – 

 

  



―53― 

Non-consolidated Statements of Income 

*1 Transactions with subsidiaries and affiliates were as follows: 

(Thousands of yen) 

 
For the fiscal year 

ended March 31, 2024 
For the fiscal year 

ended March 31, 2025 

Net sales 2,684,052 3,004,454 

Goods purchased 3,111,991 3,585,127 

Selling, general and administrative 
expenses 

12,506 11,801 

Non-operating transactions 13,006 400 

 

*2 Major items of selling, general and administrative expenses, their amounts and approximate composition were as 

follows: 

(Thousands of yen) 

 
For the fiscal year 

ended March 31, 2024 
For the fiscal year 

ended March 31, 2025 

Salaries, allowances and bonuses 2,073,022 2,116,775 

Provision for bonuses for directors (and 
other officers) 

34,591 22,216 

Retirement benefit expenses 100,998 60,963 

Depreciation 277,148 276,783 

Packing and delivery expenses 504,437 657,241 

 

Approximate composition 

Selling expenses 44% 42% 

General and administrative expenses 56% 58% 

 

*3 TOB related expenses 

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024 

There are no applicable items. 

 

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024 

The Company conducted a tender offer for treasury shares from March 21, 2025 to April 17, 2025 based on a 

resolution made at a board meeting held on March 19, 2025. TOB related expenses include advisory fees paid to 

securities companies and attorneys concerning the tender offer. 
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Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities 

1. The significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows: 

(Thousands of yen) 

 As of March 31, 2024 As of March 31, 2025 

Deferred tax assets:   

Inventories 99,715 152,736 

Accrued enterprise tax and business 
office tax 

61,950 104,210 

Provision for product warranties 40,657 38,096 

Accrued bonuses 300,654 316,907 

Provision for retirement benefits 437,727 365,916 

Land 569,871 569,965 

Investment securities 120,482 119,843 

Other 375,213 370,451 

Subtotal of deferred tax assets 2,006,271 2,038,128 

Valuation allowance (929,690) (928,531) 

Total deferred tax assets 1,076,581 1,109,596 

Deferred tax liabilities:   

Valuation difference on available-
for-sale securities 

(1,593,903) (1,147,396) 

Other (8,880) (8,880) 

Total deferred tax liabilities (1,602,783) (1,156,276) 

Deferred tax liabilities (Net) (526,201) (46,680) 

 

2. The significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities in relation to revaluation reserve for land were as 

follows: 

(Thousands of yen) 

 As of March 31, 2024 As of March 31, 2025 

Deferred tax assets:   

Unrealized loss on land revaluation 923,260 923,260 

Subtotal of deferred tax assets 923,260 923,260 

Valuation allowance (923,260) (923,260) 

Total deferred tax assets – – 

Deferred tax liabilities:   

Unrealized gain on land revaluation (616,302) (616,302) 

Total deferred tax liabilities (616,302) (616,302) 

Deferred tax liabilities (Net) (616,302) (616,302) 

 

3. The reconciliation between the effective statutory tax rate and the actual effective tax rate after applying tax effect 

accounting was as follows: 

 As of March 31, 2024  As of March 31, 2025 

Effective statutory tax rate 30.5%  30.5% 

Adjustments:    

Expenses not deductible for income tax purposes (e.g., 
entertainment expenses) 

0.3%  0.2% 

Income not taxable for income tax purposes (e.g., 
dividend income) 

(0.2%)  (0.1%) 

Corporate inhabitant tax on per capita basis 0.6%  0.4% 

Withholding tax, etc. on dividends from foreign 
affiliates 

1.1%  0.4% 

Other (0.2%)  (3.8%) 

Effective tax rate after applying tax effect accounting 32.1%  27.5% 
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Revenue Recognition 

The description on the useful information in understanding revenue arising from contracts with customers is omitted as 

it is stated in “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Revenue Recognition.” 

 

Subsequent Events 

Acquisition of treasury shares and tender offer for treasury shares 

The description on the acquisition of treasury shares and tender offer for treasury shares is omitted as it is stated in “Notes 

to Consolidated Financial Statements, Subsequent Events.” 
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(iv) Annexed Consolidated Detailed Schedules 

Annexed Non-consolidated Detailed Schedule of Property, Plant and Equipment, etc. 
(Thousands of yen) 

Category Type of assets 
Balance at 

beginning of 
period 

Increase 
during period 

Decrease 
during period 

Amortization 
for the period 

Balance at end of 
period 

Accumulated 
depreciation 

Property, plant 
and equipment 

Buildings 5,907,638 83,878 601 398,447 5,592,468 10,959,968 

 Structures 473,129 16,820 0 91,662 398,285 2,411,894 

 
Machinery and 
equipment 

1,209,509 666,092 2,361 580,946 1,292,293 8,690,156 

 Vehicles 28,069 9,338 0 15,295 22,112 94,804 

 
Tools, furniture 
and fixtures 

177,207 56,052 261 85,281 147,716 2,680,463 

 Land 
8,522,521 

[(1,007,741)] 
1,126,519 

306 
(306) 

– 
9,648,734 

[(1,007,741)] 
– 

 
Construction in 
progress 

134,614 1,707,383 322,855 – 1,519,142 – 

 Other 226,317 33,814 – 63,695 196,435 421,673 

 Subtotal 16,679,007 3,699,899 
326,388 

(306) 
1,235,329 18,817,187 25,258,961 

Intangible 
assets 

Right to use water 
facilities 

658 – – 94 564 – 

 Software 265,866 138,120 68,675 92,790 242,521 – 

 Other 20,156 – – 9,693 10,462 – 

 Subtotal 286,680 138,120 68,675 102,577 253,547 – 

(Notes) 1. The figure shown in parentheses for decrease during period of land represents the amount of impairment loss recorded. 
2. The figures shown in square brackets for balance at beginning of period and balance at end of period of land represent 

differences from the book value before the revaluation of land for business use performed pursuant to the “Act on 

Revaluation of Land” (Act No. 34, promulgated on March 31, 1998). 
 

Annexed Non-consolidated Detailed Schedule of Provisions 
(Thousands of yen) 

Category 
Balance at beginning 

of period 
Increase during period 

Decrease during 
period 

Balance at end of 
period 

Allowance for doubtful accounts 5,301 74 268 5,107 

Provision for bonuses for directors (and 
other officers) 

38,000 22,216 34,216 26,000 

Provision for product warranties 133,476 35,538 43,943 125,071 

 

(2) Components of Major Assets and Liabilities 

This information is omitted because the Group has prepared the consolidated financial statements. 

 
(3) Other 

There are no applicable items. 


